

## **W&M ScholarWorks**

**Undergraduate Honors Theses** 

Theses, Dissertations, & Master Projects

5-2024

# Developing Politics While Detained: How Juvenile Incarceration Impacts Political Participation and Behavior

Jonathan Wilkins *William & Mary* 

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.wm.edu/honorstheses

Part of the Civic and Community Engagement Commons, Criminology and Criminal Justice Commons, and the Political Science Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Wilkins, Jonathan, "Developing Politics While Detained: How Juvenile Incarceration Impacts Political Participation and Behavior" (2024). *Undergraduate Honors Theses*. William & Mary. Paper 2111. https://scholarworks.wm.edu/honorstheses/2111

This Honors Thesis -- Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses, Dissertations, & Master Projects at W&M ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Undergraduate Honors Theses by an authorized administrator of W&M ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact scholarworks@wm.edu.

# Developing Politics While Detained: How Juvenile Incarceration Impacts Political Participation and Behavior

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Bachelor of Arts in Government from The College of William and Mary

> By Jonathan Wilkins

Accepted for \_\_ Dr. Mackenzie Israel-Trummel, Director

Honors

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

This paper would not have been possible without the hard work, support, and dedication from a village of people who believed in this project and encouraged me to continue until its completion. I would like to thank my friends and family for all of their efforts to help this thesis come to fruition. From my mother who helped me print over one hundred recruitment flyers to my sister who put me in contact with helpful resources for this project, I am grateful.

I would also like to thank Katherine and Mathieu for being my cheerleaders throughout this daunting endeavor. You both supported this project before I even knew what I would write about, and I owe you two so much.

Also, I thank my committee, Professor Mackenzie Israel-Trummel, Professor Christine Nemacheck, and Professor Nicole Dressler for taking the time to participate in this process. It has been a pleasure working with you all in the classroom and I am beyond honored to have had all of you on my committee.

And lastly, I want to give a special thank you to Professor Mackenzie Israel-Trummel. This project would not be what it is today without your honest feedback, insightful advice, and constant motivation. From the bottom of my heart, thank you.

#### **ABSTRACT**

Carceral contact and childhood socialization matters, but we know little about how early encounters with carcerality mold political socialization. In this study, I examine a) if juvenile detention is a socializing agent, and b) how juvenile incarceration can shape political engagement and participation. I find that those incarcerated in their youth were less likely to be politically engaged but more likely to have negative feelings towards the criminal justice system compared to those first incarcerated as adults. Through semi-structured interviews of 8 people first incarcerated in their youth and 7 people first incarcerated in adulthood from Virginia, this paper analyzes removal from socializing agents like families and schools and juvenile detention's influence. This study implies that juvenile detention can be a non-restorative institution and calls for a focus on civic healing for youth who have learned to be politically disengaged.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	5
Literature Review	6
Families and Schools as Socializing Agents	6
Incarceration Replacing Families and Schools	10
The Carceral State as a Political Socializing Agent	13
Methodology	16
Findings	19
Engagement with Politics	19
Views on the Criminal Justice System	29
Discussion and Limitations	35
Appendix A: Interview Questions	41
Appendix B: Tables	43
Appendix C: Recruitment Flyer	44
Appendix D: Consent Form	45
Sources	47

#### INTRODUCTION

"It was dark moments," Mani tells me, referring to his time in juvenile detention, "I was sad...I couldn't talk to my family or see anyone I cared about." At twelve years old, Mani experienced first-hand the alienating nature of incarceration. Not only did he feel immense depression from being removed from his loved ones, but he noticed a "difference in how white folks were treated compared to black folks" while detained. This experience drove his negative views about the criminal justice system, stating firmly that it is "clearly unjust." While only having been incarcerated once, Mani still maintains his convictions about criminal justice and government in general. Perhaps surprisingly, he does not engage with political institutions nor activism to change the status quo.

Detention can have vast implications for how one navigates post incarceration. In some instances, these experiences can mold a person to believe that they are developed for the better, but many other formerly incarcerated people have more negative takeaways. In this paper, I examine the implications that early incarceration has in people's lives—especially pertaining to political engagement and participation. Through 15 semi-structured interviews, I find that those first incarcerated in their youth are less politically engaged than those incarcerated as adults, but they also had more negative feelings towards the criminal justice system compared to interviewees incarcerated as adults.

This paper begins by reviewing socializing agents in youths' lives: families and schools. I consider how these agents influence youths' development, how influence can be impacted by race and class, and some alternative ways to consider the agents' impacts. Next, I examine what youth lose with adjudication. Their losses range from missing out on quality education to lacking parental guidance, which are replaced with paternalistic practices done by the juvenile detention

center. My literature review ends with examining the carceral state as a political socializing agent. Some scholars argue that carcerality inspires more political engagement while others argue that it can stifle participation.

After interviewing 15 participants (8 first incarcerated in their youth and 7 first incarcerated in adulthood) I found that those incarcerated in their youth have more negative feelings about the criminal justice system but are less likely to be politically engaged. This section delves deep into their responses, analyzing some similarities and differences between juvenile and adult respondents while comparing within these groups. I discuss how these findings can be influenced by youths' removal from early socializing agents, potential caveats to this study, and implications for further consideration.

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### **Families and Schools as Socializing Agents**

To understand how carceral institutions could politicize juvenile residents, it is important to discuss how American youth develop political behavior. This process often occurs through the politics of their families and schools. Many scholars have explained how parents can influence political attitudes like partisan allegiance and civic engagement (Jennings and Niemi 1968, Beck et al. 1991, Dinas 2014). Some believe that children grow in response to their parents' political ideologies, developing ideologies that almost completely mimic or entirely reject their predecessors' views. Beck et al. (1991) specifically point towards partisan households' influence on children's views. Children from highly politicized households are most likely to carry those partisanships into adulthood, but are also the most likely to abandon them altogether.

Of course, parents do not always perfectly influence their children's political views. Giving parents' political socialization all the credit naively misses the influences of groups like class peers, the political environment, and the rise of technology. However, parents do play a crucial role whether the child is aware or not (Jennings and Niemi 1968, Hyman 1959). Political socialization from parent to child works best when parents agree politically, politics are discussed in the home, and parents have consistent political views over time (Jennings, Stoker, and Bowers, 2009). Without these factors, parents may not be as influential for their children's political development.

Parents' identities and positionality also influence their children's political socialization. Parents with a higher socioeconomic status are more likely to have children who become politically active as adults. This correlation may be because parents with higher resources are more likely to be active in politics and discuss politics at home (Verba, Schlozman, and Burns, 2005). Parents and families who have been incarcerated can also impact children's views. By witnessing incarceration, children's attitudes and orientations toward the government and their will and capacity to become involved in political life become diminished (Lee et al. 2014). Even witnessing incarceration in families and in the neighborhood could impact political behavior, minimizing activities like voting and signing petitions (Burch 2013). Not only do parents' decisions reflect in their children's politicization, but also structures that they are placed into.

Schools also are considered socializing agents. Their main purpose has been defined to instill ideas from the public to create a successful new generation (Scribner 1994). Education has the potential and the intention to project ideas and feelings into youth. Scholars have examined how education impacts political behavior and engagement, showing how youth with higher-quality civic education are more likely to be engaged in the political process than those with

lower-quality education (Kahne et al. 2006, Torney-Purta and Wilkenfeld 2009, Gainous and Martens 2016). Teachers and peers also have a significant impact in schools. Youth who have a strong attachment to peers are more likely to show major influences on developmental behaviors like depression and sympathy, while strong attachment to teachers—especially in later adolescence—influence achievement and engagement (Laible, Carlo, and Raffaelli 2000, Roorda et al. 2011). Given that youth often spend large portions of time with these groups, a student's motivation, behavior, and competency can be impacted by these relationships (Wentzel 1998, Vollet et al. 2017, Wentzel et al. 2016).

The family's role in a youth's life may look entirely different based on various cultures and backgrounds. In wealthier families, youth are more likely to complete school and have higher self-esteem. Lower-income families typically score lower than wealthy families in self-esteem, school achievement, and emotional wellbeing (Axinn, Duncan, and Thornton 1997; Brooks-Gun, Duncan, and Maritato 1997). Due to the educational and emotional capacity youth have in various economic settings, their families may influence them differently simply because of limitations or freedoms to accessing financial privileges. Families also vary by culture. For instance, many Black families have historically struggled with racist institutions that have made social mobility more difficult. As a result, Black families are more likely to focus on discipline and motivate youth to economically mobilize upward, than white families that focus more on psychological well-being due to being socially secure (Hill and Sprague 1999).

Additionally, the education system is a product of many structural inequities like racism and classism. Some people who hold marginalized identities often struggle with adjusting to schools that do not accommodate their positionalities. As a result, education does not always indicate social mobility and these groups may view schooling as futile. Students and families

who are low-income or persons of color may disengage from interacting with their school, as schools may be viewed as representing white middle-class interests (Cooper 2007, Hands and Hubbard 2011). With this understanding, we should note that engagement with education and its influence on politics could look different in youth that are from adverse backgrounds. This study will aim to take a race/class conscious approach to better understanding these institutions' role in their lives.

---

Research studying parents' political influence on children has mixed results. As previously mentioned, some studies place parents as more influential while others favor other influences. One 2014 study found that children who are most likely to adopt their parents' political views are also most likely to abandon them later. Their change in views comes from interacting with the world and observing its political implications for themselves (Dinas, 2014). This view gives parental influence in politics less weight because of its ability to waver. Additionally, Jennings and Niemi (1981) bring to light an important issue in parental political socialization that parents *themselves* may not be politically stable. Measuring parents as a consistent political authority could be misleading since their views may change and be influenced by their children.

Some find that schools may also not be highly influential institutions. In a 2011 study, some cases of teacher-student relationships were found to be not as impactful on student behavior as expected. These relationships were found to be more influential for students academically at risk, specifically for students from low-income backgrounds and with learning disabilities. However, these relationships were varied in influence for students not from those backgrounds (Roorda et al. 2011). In another study, peers were found to be influential, but only

in the context of a teacher's relationship with those students. To fully understand a student's relationship with their peers, teachers had to be involved in that examination which complicates how impactful peers truly are (Vollet et al. 2017).

Despite the mentioned contradictions, studying these influences can have value. Even if a young person is not highly influenced by these socializing agents, there still may be a minor impact to examine. Since young people often spend most of their life around family and in school, these factors likely develop youths' behavior in some way. The following section will examine how the *removal* of these influential institutions in replacement of juvenile incarceration could have a profound impact.

#### **Incarceration Replacing Families and Schools**

Incarceration has a dramatic impact on the status of a juvenile. After deteriorating a resident's spirit, body, and mind, detention also makes contact with education and families more difficult. Youth frequently struggle to interact via phone, as fees and wait times complicate communication. Sometimes, staff revoke phone privileges as punishment for an infraction a youth made while in detention. Visitation can also prove to be difficult, as there are significantly fewer juvenile centers placed throughout the United States compared to adult prisons and jails, so families may be less likely to commute to visit an incarcerated loved one (Desai 2019; Puzzanchera, Hockenberry, and Sickmund 2022). Access to quality education is also hindered as youth enter incarceration. While Virginia requires juveniles to have some sort of schooling, residents are still left further behind school-wise and struggle to earn credit recovery.

Additionally, post-release juveniles often battle physical and psychological stresses that make dropping out of school more likely (Desai 2019).

Being arrested at a young age could also morph a child's relationship with systems of governmental power. Juvenile incarceration as an institution was founded on a doctrine called parens patriae, or "parent of the country or homeland." Under this doctrine, a state or court has a paternal and protective role over its citizens or others subject to its jurisdiction (Cornell n.d.). Specifically, this doctrine was made in an attempt to grant protections to juveniles that they did not receive before its existence, and to "mold wayward youths into good citizens" (Ainsworth 1991). Many have argued that this ideology has made juvenile incarceration paternalistic. Milton and Gilman (1976) suggest that juvenile courts acted as "the child's substitute parent" to remove children from urban environments "that [were] the breeding grounds of delinquency." Feld (2017) notes that the courts often juggle between treating juveniles as children who need to be protected, versus individuals who are responsible for their actions. To mitigate this dilemma, Feld argues, judges and legislators often "selectively choose between the two constructs" to "maximize social control of young people." Here, Feld notes that the state is working to maximize its own benefits. In the process, the carceral state plays a more active (and perhaps even a more invasive) role in a youth's life.

Not only does the juvenile justice system invoke paternalism, but it has been argued to remove parental roles from a child's parent. Fedders (2022) points to how the courts place heavy burdens upon the parents of incarcerated children. Through fines, fees, and increased monitoring requirements, the state invades the family's authority and privacy. In the process, the state usurps the parents' legitimacy. Goldman and Rodriguez (2022) enhance this argument, claiming that the state acts as an "ultimate parent." The authors look at racial differences in how probation officers give processing recommendations over youth, and find that race influences if officers give tougher recommendations to family. By targeting Black and Brown families, the carceral state

can use its power to remove legitimacy from the family and move it to incarceration. This transformation of legitimacy could potentially shift a youth's development.

Scholars have also considered the bias that prevents certain juveniles from receiving paternalistic treatment within juvenile courts. Goff et al. (2014) argues that since Black people are often dehumanized more than White people, Black boys are often seen as older and less innocent than White boys of the same age. This perception was able to predict associations between police violence against Black boys, furthering the notion that perhaps the government does not act as a parent towards certain juveniles, but as a punitive measure against someone who should be held accountable for their actions. Epstein, Blake, and González (2017) further this notion through a concept called "adultification:" the way race, gender, and class are used to perceive Black youth as less innocent and more adult-like than white peers. Their study examined how the adultification of Black girls has led to harsher punishment against them in schools and in juvenile justice. With this knowledge, it is still important to recognize that incarceration interrupts and replaces the family institution. Whether or not the dentition itself is paternalistic may vary on experience, but the interruption likely has a large impact on a youth.

Arresting and removing youth from families and schools can be detrimental not only to their social growth, but also their political development. Stated by Bulanda and Johnson (2016), "youth who have experienced traumatic experiences are often among those disenfranchised within the community" (p. 20). Youth learn about politics through families and schools; these two institutions work as socializing agents to mold youth into how they view and engage with government and politics. Without these institutions, how does the political development of a child manifest? Some studies reveal that high school dropouts are less likely to be civically active. Those who are removed from schools often have decreased social connections and fewer

ties to the community. This lack of social engagement can cause a decreased sense of responsibility to society (Putnam 2000; Pusztai et al. 2019). Removal from the family could also impact political development, as foster care minors reveal. One study finds that these youth often struggle with balancing many responsibilities at once, and it may make them want to "give up." The study ends by suggesting intervention programs to create civic engagement (Tyrell and Yates 2018). Removing youth from these socializing agents and putting them in juvenile detention could interrupt the normal political socializing process.

#### The Carceral State as a Political Socializing Agent

In this section, I show how the carceral state, the mechanisms in which people are under state control through policing, incarceration, probation, and other methods, is able to politically socialize individuals. While the literature is relatively small, some scholars have explored the carceral state's impact on politics. Lerman and Weaver (2014) argue that the carceral state's broad reach has contested our meaning of citizenship for certain individuals. Those under its control become second-class citizens through their intentional nonengagement with politics in order to avoid the authorities' attention and to keep a low profile. The authors conclude that not only do these "custodial citizens" lose legal rights (such as voting, certain jobs, and housing), but are denied access to American democracy. Thus, the criminal justice system forms "an important exception to our democratic norms and, in so doing, has undercut the forward trajectory of equality and inclusion" (p. 6).

Other studies support their arguments. In many cases, experience behind bars has led to decreased political participation and mobilization. This decline can be seen in political activities like voting, protesting, and signing petitions (Burch 2013). Incarceration does not even need to last a long time for it to have a politically demobilizing effect on residents. In certain

circumstances, short jail sentences could cause individuals to lose jobs and housing, which could discourage voting (White 2019). An overarching argument behind these ideas is that incarceration politically socializes inmates towards negative feelings about government.

Socioeconomic status and race alone do not explain why some people disengage from politics—but incarceration itself produces ideas of political nonparticipation in those under supervision (Weaver and Lerman 2010).

Decreased political participation does not only occur to those behind bars. Events like repeated policing can impact people's desires to engage in politics. By having repeated negative experiences with government through policing, some may choose to remain disengaged from government altogether (Anoll, Epp, and Israel-Trummel 2022; Weaver, Prowse, and Piston 2020). Disengagement can even affect those who are merely related to those who are incarcerated. By witnessing neighbors or loved ones not engage in politics, those close to them sometimes also become disengaged (Burch 2013). This reality points to bigger implications behind criminal justice. By creating an environment where people are deemed separate from mainstream society, those people will likely not participate in mainstream political institutions.

This separation is seen most clearly within marginalized social groups. For recently released Black women, reintegration can be difficult. By having to navigate in a socioeconomic context that does not address their needs, Black women may struggle with obtaining basic necessities like health care, work, access to maternity services, and housing (Urbina 2008; Bailey 2007). If Black women must overcome these hurdles post-incarceration, then political participation may be difficult or even secondary to satisfying more prominent needs. Other specific struggles are seen with immigrants who are under state supervision. Operating in a political context where immigrants are seen as usurping government resources from mainstream

society, they often feel hostility from American government. This hostility is often manifested in encounters with police, ranging from unlawful searches to outright violence. As a result, immigrants may feel hesitation when encountering the criminal justice system—a key mechanism to participating in the democratic process (Armenta 2017).

Simultaneously, sometimes we notice the complete opposite effect on political behavior. Instead of those impacted by the carceral state becoming disengaged with government and the political process, they may be *more* inclined to interact with these institutions. Incarcerated people, for instance, have frequently displayed their dissatisfaction with their detention. Through methods like hunger strikes and riots, prisoners have mobilized against the politics of their confinement and demanded change. These displays have worked towards contesting citizenship's meaning for incarcerated people (Easton 2018). Corrigan (2019) has even argued that prisons were central for Black Power and the Black liberation movement. Through the imprisonment of many key Black liberationists, political analysis and organizational strategies were able to mold from their original form in the Civil Rights era into Black Power. The prison not only aided Black Power's development but was a central feature. In these examples, the prison is grounds for developing political people.

As a result, some people feel more inclined to politically engage after release. After recognizing particularly disheartening and unjust features of the criminal justice system, some may hold anger towards their negative experience and use political action to forge effective change (Walker 2020). Sometimes this activism takes the form of voting or signing petitions, but other versions of activism are more direct like protests or uprisings. Historically, these actions against the system have often been considered senseless or unorganized, but recent scholarship has viewed these engagements as political. By considering them through this lens, more agency

is given to actors who intentionally engage in efforts against carcerality and oppression (Hinton 2020). Studies also reveal that having close ties to those with felony convictions or engaging with civil society organizations are elements that increase political activity (Anoll and Israel-Trummel 2019; Owens and Walker 2018). By interacting with others who battle disenfranchisement, custodial citizens can become mobilized.

---

While the literature varies in interpreting how the carceral state impacts political behavior, most studies have ignored how juvenile incarceration affects mobilization. Some have interviewed youth under the carceral state to better understand their experiences. These studies often examine the implications of detention or surveillance in their personal lives, but research has not explored how early confinement could influence thoughts around politics and government in adulthood (Rios 2011; Epstein, Blake, and González 2017; King et al. 2011; Henning 2023; Lerman and Weaver 2014; Burch 2013; Goff et al. 2013; Bulanda and Johnson 2016). In this thesis, I will draw upon testimonials from adults formerly incarcerated in their youth and those formerly incarcerated as adults to better understand how they view politics and government. I aim to bridge the knowledge gap between juvenile adjudication and political engagement.

#### **METHODOLOGY**

This study focuses on how youths' removal from normal political socializing agents to juvenile incarceration impacts political behavior. I decided to focus on juvenile incarceration separately from adult incarceration because I believed the two groups would have varied results. Since youth are exposed to socializing agents that adults are not as exposed to when they are

incarcerated, their experiences developing political attitudes could look different. Further, juvenile incarceration strengthens the likelihood that one is incarcerated later on in life (Gillman, Hill, and Hawkins 2015). This institution makes escaping the criminal justice system's broad reach extremely difficult.

I interviewed 15 people who have been incarcerated in their past: 8 had been incarcerated as juveniles while 7 were incarcerated for the first time as adults. This will allow a better comparison between those whose first contact was during youth versus those whose first contact was during adulthood. The median length of detention for those first incarcerated in their youth was 11 months and a range of 11 days to 32 years. The median length for those first incarcerated as adults was 5 months with a range of 4 hours to 4 years. All participants were incarcerated in Virginia, mostly in the southeastern region. Virginia is a significant state to study as its history with juvenile incarceration has been particularly of national interest. While juvenile recidivism rates have fallen, youth still reenter detention at 44% in the state. Black youth are more likely to be adjudicated than white youth, which reflects national trends. Also, juvenile detention centers are often ill equipped to be fully rehabilitative, and reentry programs bleakly lack effectiveness (JLARC 2020). Juveniles face particularly challenging barriers while confined in Virginia and this study will examine how these conditions can impact political development and behavior.

I found these participants in various formats. Some were contacted through non-profit organizations that work with formerly incarcerated people, while some others were found through flyers placed throughout Norfolk, Chesapeake, Virginia Beach, and Portsmouth. Most participants were gathered through snowball sampling and personal connections and no interviewees were financially compensated. The snowball sampling method could potentially

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See recruitment flyer in Appendix C.

bias results, as some participants knew each other and came from similar backgrounds, and knowing participants personally could influence how they spoke to me and what information was revealed. However, I found that participants seemed more at ease and discussion was more fruitful when I either was referred to them by a peer or they knew me personally. Additionally, not compensating interviewees was intentional to bypass potential bias in my study (Delvin et al. 2022). Under these conditions, participants were willing to answer as much or as little as they wanted for each question without a sense of added pressure.

Participants ranged from age 22 to 54, with the median age being 33.5. All but one of the participants were male with 10 identifying as Black or African American and 5 as white. While this racial makeup in my study does not proportionately represent the racial makeup of Virginia's detention centers, it does allow for an in-depth analysis of various groups who have been incarcerated. By drawing on Black interviewees' experiences in particular, this study can better analyze how racial prejudice within the criminal justice system impacts people's political experiences. Since mass incarceration has disproportionately impacted people of color for generations (Alexander 2010; Pfaff 2017), it is important to study these groups and draw on their nuanced perspectives.

Lastly, each interview was conducted in a semi-structured interview format remotely. I asked questions about their experiences with incarceration, thoughts about government and politics, and ideas about reform, among several other questions.<sup>2</sup> Some conversations took place over Zoom while most were held over a phone call. Some participants could have felt weary about sharing information while knowing that their words were being recorded. This potential hesitancy was mitigated by ensuring them that an alias would be provided and that our calls

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Appendix A.

occurred in a private space. In the next section, this paper will illustrate how participants responded.

#### **FINDINGS**

I investigate two questions: can juvenile incarceration be a socializing agent? And if so, how does the replacement of usual socializing agents (such as families and schools) with incarceration impact political views and behavior? My interviews suggest that those who were incarcerated in their youth tend to have a much stronger distaste for the criminal justice system than those who were incarcerated as adults, but those incarcerated in their youth were less likely to engage with politics than those incarcerated in adulthood. In this section, I indicate whether interviewees were first incarcerated as juveniles or adults using parenthetical notes after their name.<sup>3</sup>

#### **Engagement with Politics**

When questioned about political engagement, interviewees provided a wide range of responses. Some appeared to be highly engaged with the political process while others reported not caring at all, with variation in between. While each respondent had a unique experience with political activity, I will categorize the interviewees into two groups: politically active and politically inactive. Those who were politically active reported engaging with politics in some manner such as through voting, going to protests, signing petitions, or speaking with governmental officials. Non-politically active participants reported not having any encounter with the political realm. If participants reported being aware of politics but not directly engaging with political institutions or activism, I categorized them as being non-politically active. This

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> While some interviewees are labeled "juvenile" for the purpose of this study, all were in adulthood at the time of the interview. See Appendix B for more information on each participant.

categorization will allow a deeper examination into why certain individuals interact with politics differently post incarceration.

### Non-politically active

Those who had been in juvenile incarceration were less politically active than those who were incarcerated as adults. 25% of those first incarcerated as a juvenile reported being politically active, while 57% of those first incarcerated as an adult reported the same. Almost every respondent incarcerated in their youth reported being politically disengaged, for a variety of reasons. One was Dean (juvenile), a 22-year-old man studying at a Virginia university. He noted that he "stay[s] far away" from voting or participating in activism after incarceration:

After my experience...I stay far away from politics. I realized that it is a whole system and I do not want to get involved with that...Like I said, the government is a system that wants you to be trapped under its control to pay money and things like that.

Despite his relatively short sentence of 11 days and his educational mobility, Dean avoids politics and views the government as a mechanism of "control." Instead of sensing the government as helpful, in his eyes, it aims to exert its force for its own monetary gain through taxation. Jarvis (juvenile) maintained a similar removal from political interaction, as his voting rights had been removed after a probation violation. Still, he and his friends "talk about politics and different things all the time." At 31 years old and unemployed, Jarvis notes how he still struggles to find work due to probation violations that accrued after his initial juvenile arrest. Economic barriers in addition to legal ones may make political participation difficult.

Dean and Jarvis represent a dichotomy of the political experience that those formerly incarcerated often face—either psychological barriers to political engagement or legal ones.

Dean's unwillingness to interact with the "system," perhaps out of distrust, anger, or futility, represents a large portion of people's feelings under the carceral state. Many people currently or formerly under state supervision withdraw from contact with governmental institutions for safety and privacy reasons (Lerman and Weaver 2014; Burch 2013; Weaver, Prowse, and Piston 2020).

On the other hand, Jarvis' inability to engage with politics outside of conversation represents a legal barrier that blocks over 4 million Americans from participating in the political process (Porter and McLeod 2023). The economic hardships that manifest from former incarceration could also hinder political engagement, as those who battle societal barriers often detract from politics (White 2019). Perhaps if he were able to vote, he would use that legal right and pursue politics through other avenues.

Similarly to Dean and Jarvis, others incarcerated in their youth reported being disengaged from politics but due to apathy. Henry (juvenile) reported having little "care how things turn out [in politics] as long as I have what I need." Even being very politically aware about gun policy and immigration, Henry chooses to not interact with formal politics and instead asserts his "zero trust for our government." This distrust was sparked from Henry's adjudication over a disagreement about him becoming an emancipated minor, which turned into a judge "claiming that [he] ran away from home." During his time behind bars, he lacked the AP courses that he took in high school and his lawyer advocated for him to have better education while confined. This advocacy battle resulted in Henry's eventual release after six months. For another participant named Lee (juvenile), voting has little meaning for him. He noted that "the government is built against Black men," and chooses not to vote out of its futility. Though

incarcerated at 15, Lee spent eight years behind bars with most of his time being in an adult facility. After I asked Lee to explain how the government targets Black men, he declined to elaborate. In my interpretation, Lee's unwillingness to answer likely shows just how harmful or traumatic experiences with incarceration can be. In this case, Lee's apathy is more towards a system that he believes will always be rigged against him. His lack of faith in government may make interaction with it pointless.

As shown from these four men, not only is the carceral state able to bar those under its custody from political engagement through law and fear, but it can work to distance individuals from engagement entirely (Lerman and Weaver 2014; Burch 2013). Despite having a strong interest in taking AP courses, a common signal of civic engagement (Klugman 2013), Henry still rejects interaction with the political process as long as he has his basic necessities. This alienation from politics may reflect his battle with judicial authority over his emancipation at 16 years old. Henry mentioned that "it doesn't make sense for a juvenile court judge to not need a second opinion." At a young age, he witnessed his own versions of injustice in his adjudication. For some, learning about government and politics through early interactions with the legal system could shape political development. With this newfound political knowledge, some may find systems of power to be unhelpful, meaningless, or oppressive (Lerman and Weaver 2014). In Lee's case, his experience in juvenile incarceration likely worked to color his time in adult incarceration. The combined sentences introduced Lee to systemic structures present in both juvenile and adult confinement, in addition to his court proceedings and interactions with police that caused his adjudication. All of these experiences at an early age could have taught Lee about the political process and how the criminal justice system works against Black men. By choosing to not vote or engage with politics, Lee willingly removes himself from the mainstream political

process. Citizens often refrain from voting when they view that the stakes are lower (Gerber et al. 2017). If Lee learned from his incarceration that activism would not change much about systemic structures against Black men, then he may be less inclined to engage with political efforts.

Notably, three out of eight interviewees first incarcerated in their youth reported being currently or formerly employed with government or politics. Out of the three, two of them reported being politically inactive, both for apathetic reasons. Henry (juvenile) formerly worked in Crisis Intervention as a police officer. His role required him to intervene in security matters when a person presents a danger to themselves or others due to a manifestation of a mental health disability. Despite joining the police force for the goal to "make a change in criminal justice" after having his own negative experience with the system, he eventually saw matters differently:

I realized that [the government] was not doing the right thing for people who are in the criminal justice system. Police did some shady stuff just to get a pay raise. And people are overly sentenced, especially those with a mental disability. My job really drove me away from policing, honestly.

Henry learned that the criminal justice system had severe flaws. From the ways police operated to acquire a higher salary to the criminalization of mental illness, various facets of the criminal justice system disillusioned Henry. On the other hand, Darnell (juvenile) currently works for the government in the Marine Corps. Before then, he worked as a security guard at a Norfolk

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> While these participants work within governmental institutions, I do not automatically consider them politically engaged because their work seems to come more from economic necessity rather than from political mobilization.

shopping mall to, similarly to Henry, "help out, since we need more good cops." After working as a mall officer, Darnell realized that there was even more "corruption" possible with policing than he had previously understood. Joining the Marine Corps was seen as his way "out." Both cases show how people incarcerated as juveniles may be mobilized to make change after release, but further encounters with government in *collaboration* with their previous experiences incarcerated as juveniles make them reject participation altogether. Though Darnell works for the government again through the Marine Corps, he saw this governmental solution as a way "out" of Norfolk's policing. In his case, negotiating the removal from one governmental institution required him to join another.

Some of the participants (3 out of 7) who were incarcerated as adults also reported being politically inactive. One was Quinton (adult), a Black man who spent four years in prison. He described the government in a quite negative light and spoke extensively about his disengagement from politics:

I have no interest in [politics]. The government is corrupted for sure. You have to pay unnecessary taxes on things that shouldn't even have tolls or taxes. I know first hand because I've been experienced the corruption with the government in the system.

Here, Quinton expresses how his incarceration shapes his political behavior and why he does not engage. Since the government is "corrupted," interaction may prove to be pointless in Quinton's eyes. Another participant named Rhonda (adult) also reported having little interest in politics.

Since she mainly identifies with another country, Rhonda grants little importance to American politics in her personal life:

I'm not too concerned about politics unless it affects my personal life...I don't watch the news anymore or go to protests either for my mental state. Doesn't mean I don't have an opinion in it, but there are certain things I won't do or perform to show my solidarity...But immigration issues and issues surrounding my home country are close to my heart.

Rhonda articulates how American political activism plays no role in her life. While she does consider American social issues, she feels a stronger tie to another government. In Quinton and Rhonda's examples, we see how incarceration can have a large or absent impact on one's political development. While Rhonda was incarcerated for three hours compared to Quinton's four years, and she feels more affiliated with another country while he has only ever lived in America, these two represent the range of influence on those detained as adults. *Politically active*.

People first incarcerated in adulthood appeared to be more politically active than those incarcerated in their youth, as only 2 out of 7 people incarcerated as adults reported political inactivity while 7 out of 8 people incarcerated as juveniles reported the same. Keith (adult) was incarcerated for a few hours, as he was arrested for driving while intoxicated. His short time behind bars, according to him, seemed to not impact his political engagement. Keith mentioned that he "votes[s] in every election," which contradicts what most interviewees incarcerated as juveniles reported, but "hate[s] watching the news" as he finds it too negative. Another participant, Elliot (adult), reported voting and keeping up with politics. His incarceration lasted for three months, and it has pushed him to play an active role in reform:

It has given me a drive towards change about the way things are being done. It has given me a push towards going to law school to see what kind of change I can make myself instead of waiting around and not doing anything...I am passionate about incarceration in general and mass incarceration. It is getting better but we should try to fix the system.

Elliot's three-month sentence had pushed him to interact more with the political world. Despite having a "difficult time" explaining his jail time to college admission offices, he displays a resilience to make societal progress. In these examples, incarceration appeared to persuade political efficacy less in Keith than in Elliot.

Two other men incarcerated as adults reported working closely with government and politics, and their engagement is noteworthy. For example, Arthur (adult) claimed that he "has no choice" but to be involved in politics due to the nature of his work, as he works with the Virginia Department of Corrections. He also votes and pays attention to the news as forms of political engagement. But he claims that his involvement in government is not influenced by his previous incarceration:

The way that I thought [when I was incarcerated] versus the way I think now is very different...In regards to what policies I vote on and stand by and my career path is all influenced by my personal experience and my community.

Despite working deeply within the criminal justice system and Virginia politics, Arthur views his engagement as exterior to his multiple encounters with detention as an adult. Instead, other

experiences and his community impact his interaction. Perhaps since he was incarcerated as an adult, Arthur's political development from family and school was not interrupted, thus enabling him to maintain strong political ties to his community rather than to incarceration. Mason (adult) is also involved with politics as he is currently running for an elected position. While this is an extremely rare position to hold—especially after one has been formerly incarcerated—understanding his role in the political arena can still provide much room for analysis. He claims that political engagement is a necessary part of his life and work, and he votes, goes to protests, and does many different forms of activism. Though he slightly diverges from Arthur, as some of his political views seem to be influenced by both his family and his four years in prison. He mentions how he views reform:

I come from a family that was really involved with politics and really progressive with criminal justice...[I agree with them] for the most part, but I am not a bleeding-heart liberal when it comes to criminal justice reform. I do believe some people deserve to be in[carcerated].

Perhaps his conviction at age 24 influenced his ability to be politically socialized by his family, as those adjudicated in their youth seem less influenced by family. But Mason's more moderate views than his family likely represent how his opinions altered while incarcerated. This example reveals how both political socializing agents are at play, but Mason was socialized to become more engaged instead of disengaged.

Only two people formerly incarcerated as juveniles reported being politically active. Bill (juvenile), adjudicated a week before his 18<sup>th</sup> birthday, received a grand larceny sentence for

stealing his mother's DVDs and was charged as an adult. His experiences with incarceration influences many of his views about the criminal justice system and his employment prospects:

When someone runs a background check on me, it's an awkward conversation, which I find useless. I was tried for my crime, I paid my restitution, I did my program, and I have to carry this felony charge with me through life and I have to explain it and get judged over and over again. It's like the Scarlet Letter—I have the red 'S.'

In this instance, Bill explains how his early incarceration barricaded his interaction with the economy more than it influenced his political engagement. Despite these challenges, Bill still reports voting and staying politically informed. Carson (juvenile) reported being very politically active. Among voting, watching the news, and going to protests, Carson also leads a criminal justice reform non-profit and commonly advocates for reform to politicians and wide audiences. To this participant, his criminal justice background severely impacted his political engagement:

[Being incarcerated and battling probation] has a great influence because I wasn't able to become politically conscious until I went through the criminal justice system. And once I started to understand the politics of my situation from a societal point of view, which was my family...and the pressures they were under of having to beat the allegations of [me] being a sexual assaulter...it still informs me. Even the encounters I had with the prison environment and becoming involved with government programs, I learned.

Carson illuminates how his 32 years behind bars impacted his political knowledge and eventual engagement. Incarceration itself was a catalyst for his political activism and also had an impact on his family's involvement. In many ways, Bill and Carson defy the other participants who were incarcerated in their youth in this study. For one, their families had a direct impact on informing their interaction with the criminal justice system. Bill's mother had reported him to authorities while Carson's family and their struggles with defending him influenced Carson to politically mobilize. Also, Carson was incarcerated on the precipice of adulthood while Bill spent most of his life imprisoned as an adult. Their experiences with adult imprisonment influenced their political engagement.

#### Views on the criminal justice system

In addition to asking about political engagement, I also asked participants their opinions on the criminal justice system. All interviewees agreed that criminal justice institutions need improvements. However, participants incarcerated as juveniles tended to have more negative views towards the criminal justice system than those incarcerated as adults.

Negative views.

Most participants interviewed reported some negative feelings towards the criminal justice system. Many felt that their experiences leading up to or while incarcerated impacted their views. For example, Bill (juvenile) reported having little understanding about the criminal proceedings and judicial system:

If we understood our judicial system better than we do at [a young] age, we wouldn't end up with so many spiraled out of control people that just don't have any hope because things happen and it gets worse from there...We're taught to stay quiet in a courtroom—

if I am being tried as an adult, my voice should be listened. It's like we're limited to a box and once you realize later you had an opportunity to do something, you don't even know it.

Bill seems to be discontent with the judicial system's normalization of youth's a) lack of knowledge and b) silence and complacency while being adjudicated. Carson (juvenile) also had negative views of criminal justice due to his experiences with the system. He elaborates:

I don't think the government is doing the right thing for criminal justice...The government is more concerned with capitalism versus the true development of all aspects of society. There are biases in all aspects of our system—including in ways it was designed...[Being incarcerated] informed and still informs me, and encounters I had within the prison environment impacts my grasp on the government and everything else.

Here, Carson explains how the criminal justice system "informs" him. While in prison for 32 years, Carson encountered abuse and violence from other inmates and correctional officers. He also spent years learning about political theorists, governmental institutions, and historical figures to "grow political consciousness." As he puts it, these events taught him about the way carcerality works. To him, incarceration was built to favor capitalism rather than societal reform.

Other participants focused more on how their experiences *after* incarceration sparked negative feelings towards the criminal justice system. As mentioned earlier, Henry's (juvenile) experience working as a police officer proved to him that American criminal justice is flawed. However, he may not have come to the same conclusion without his combined history of

incarceration and being a police officer: "I wanted to be a good cop, since I knew first-hand a lot of them aren't that. And I was. But there were so many problems with bad policing that I knew I just couldn't deal with it anymore." Here, Henry shares that in his own experience many police were not "good." This assumption could have been drawn from his time in juvenile detention and seems to have propelled him to become an officer. But with the problems within policing, doing the right thing may have been difficult and thus gave Henry a bad taste of the criminal justice system altogether. When interviewing Jarvis (juvenile), he also spent more time expressing how issues spawned post juvenile incarceration. Conflicts like small probation violations or being barred from voting were more pressing. "The law isn't the law when it comes to them," he says, referring to the criminal justice system. "They are definitely going to do what they want to do whether the crime fits the punishment or not. There is no rehabilitation." Jarvis appears to believe that his later struggles with the law post incarceration were unjust and were more punitive than restorative.

Some interviewees incarcerated as adults also reported having negative feelings towards the criminal justice system. In Elliot's (adult) case, his incarceration came after an incident that resulted from his "repeated struggles with mental illness." He tells me how this impacted his view of the criminal justice system:

[Having a criminal record] make[s] it so hard to get a job. Especially for people like me who have credentials before these things happen. It makes it difficult for things like employment and when it comes to maintaining our role in society because there is a lot of stigma for having a criminal record. The government can definitely do more.

Not only does Elliot perceive problems within criminal justice, but he expresses that the government has the responsibility to reform these issues. Quinton (adult) reports a similar discontent with the government, seeing the criminal justice system as a "corrupt system" with "a lot of unlawful acts" which is "why many people stand up against its injustices." Even though Quinton does not engage in protests himself, he appears to understand why they take place and blames the government. All in all, those first incarcerated as adults have similar discontents with the criminal justice system as those first incarcerated as youth.

Non-negative views.

While most participants had negative associations with the criminal justice system, some reported having positive feelings about its functions. Only one interviewee incarcerated in their youth reported having overall positive feelings towards policing and prisons. Darnell (juvenile) mentioned how his incarceration drove him to do better in his life, and that without it he may still be on the "wrong path." He explains:

Having been through it...I think I am a little bit more supportive than the average person. Someone who hasn't been through it doesn't really understand it. And they don't understand why certain things happen. I don't think the criminal justice system is great, but I think I am a little more supportive than the average person.

To Darnell, his experience with criminal justice influenced his support since he understands "why certain things happen." Even though his opinions diverge from most other respondents, Darnell highlights how criminal justice can hold value for some people in the system. One participant imprisoned as an adult also reported having a positive feeling towards Virginia's

criminal justice system. Arthur (adult), a man who works with the Virginia Department of Corrections, favors Virginia's police and prison system after working there.

Not all police officers are bad, and I think that—from working in corrections—it came with the intent of creating a fearing environment instead of a *corrective* environment...

Eventually, my job became less about managing people and was more about managing people. And I know I just said the same thing, but I think that is the best way I can put it. So now I have a better understanding of how the law works. And now I have a stronger passion for it and a better appreciation for it than I did when I was younger. I was able to turn corrections from corrections into *healing*.

For this participant, working with VADOC gave him the opportunity to create a positive change in the criminal justice system. By working to "add educational programs" to better "develop children" and turning a punitive system into a "healing" one, Arthur was able to produce what he finds to be a positive carceral environment. Both Darnell and Arthur worked in law enforcement, which a) may come from having a positive experience with criminal justice, b) may drive their more positive views, or c) a mix of both. Regardless, their experience of carcerality creating a positive, restorative change is an interesting deviation to note.

Some participants in the study had either mixed or no particular feelings towards the criminal justice system. Rhonda (adult) admitted that she did not have much information on criminal justice issues, but her own experience was "not that bad." Contrary to "how police are described," she says, "I was treated quite well. So I can't really say if the criminal justice system is bad or good." Rhonda's knowledge and experience about the criminal justice system could be

influenced by her limited contact with it. Compared to other participants, her stay was significantly shorter (a few hours) than others. Mason (adult), on the other hand, spent four years in prison and also had mixed feelings towards the criminal justice system.

While incarcerated, I learned that there are some [officers] that are doing it for a good reason, and there are some individuals who are doing it for a bad reason. And it is kind of hit or miss. And the ones who are good, they don't get recognized for being good. And the ones who are bad, you know they are bad. But the ones who are good aren't recognized...I still don't trust the police. But if I see a correctional officer, I trust them because they don't have the same incentives... I come from a family that was really involved with politics and really progressive with criminal justice...[I agree with them] for the most part, but I am not a bleeding-heart liberal when it comes to criminal justice reform. I do believe some people deserve to be in[carcerated].

Mason shows how his views about the criminal justice system are quite nuanced. In some cases, law enforcement act appropriately and deserve to be recognized for their behavior. In other cases, they break the law and even impact his trust with police. Notably, only participants incarcerated in adulthood expressed neutral views towards the criminal justice system. This mixed viewpoint may have arisen from having early positive experiences with law enforcement, while those incarcerated in their youth had early negative encounters.

---

These sections compare juvenile incarceration to adult incarceration in how they impact political engagement and feelings towards the criminal justice system. Those incarcerated in their

youth tended to be less politically engaged and had more negative views towards the criminal justice system versus those incarcerated in adulthood who tended to be more politically engaged and had less negative views. In the next section, I will discuss why these trends may exist and what their implications could mean for democracy. Then I will also cover crucial limitations to this study.

#### **DISCUSSION AND LIMITATIONS**

My findings show that those first incarcerated in their youth were less likely to politically engage and were more likely to have negative views about the criminal justice system compared to those first incarcerated in adulthood. Interviewees referenced several personal experiences that influenced their political and carceral feelings, like unjust interactions with law enforcement, their current or previous occupations, and various belief systems. In this section, I will discuss more broadly why those incarcerated in their youth had different experiences than those incarcerated only as adults, and then end the section with limitations and concluding remarks.

The participants first incarcerated in their youth responded quite similarly. Being arrested and removed from family at a young age could have influenced these results. Families provide crucial support for developing youth, and interrupting this connection through crises can result in negative youth development (Mackova et al. 2019). The negative reactions participants incarcerated in their youth had towards government and the criminal justice system could reflect the crisis of imprisonment's impact on political development, versus adults who were not impacted at a developmental age. Participants may also have felt that their parents' neglect or actions resulted in their young incarceration, which could influence their relationships with family. Incarceration could influence a youth's relationship with several socializing agents.

These same participants could have been influenced by being removed from schools. Peers provide a crucial social network for developing youth. Friends strongly influence youth's feelings and development, even if that friend does not completely relate to the youth (Fine et al. 2016). Also, teachers play a strong role in development. Their teachings, such as in civic engagement, are enough to shape the attitudes of their students (Gainous & Martens 2016). No longer having these bonds, or even a short interruption from these socializing agents, could be enough to reshape a youth's view on various experiences altogether. Similarly to family removal, being taken away from school could result in negative feelings towards criminal justice solely for that removal.

Participants first incarcerated in adulthood had much more varied responses. This discrepancy in results could be influenced by removal from family—especially for those incarcerated at younger ages—in addition to other influences like work, families they help develop, and other networks. Unlike adults, youth typically have similar socializing agents that they could be removed from. Future studies could examine how removal from certain jobs, spouses and children, and other things associated with adulthood could impact political feelings and behaviors.

Additionally, participants could have largely responded negatively towards the criminal justice system, and thus decided whether to engage with the political process, due to policy threats. For many people, interaction with politics comes out of a necessity to override bad policy proposals (Pantoja et al. 2001; Pantoja and Segura 2003). Not only may they vote, but also protest and sign petitions to better aid themselves and the community (Walker 2020). Some of those who were more politically mobilized seemed to act to counter negative criminal justice outcomes. Conversely, these same experiences could cause some to politically retreat due to

societal rejection. Factors like inferiority, depression, low self-esteem, and insecurity could combine and influence political demobilization (Oskooii 2020). Some participants who were less politically engaged seemed to display some of these traits. Experiencing stigmas from society post release—especially from those in political positions—could influence some to disengage from the political process altogether.

### Limitations

While this study attempts to accurately represent the experiences of those formerly incarcerated in Virginia to make broader implications, some important caveats are raised in my research. Firstly, this study interviewed no female-identifying people who were incarcerated as a juvenile, nor were individuals of other racial identities beyond Black and White. This lack of data could prove to have inconclusive information for women and other people of color under the carceral state. Women and girls have unique experiences dealing with the criminal justice system. From adultification disproportionately punishing them compared to white girls to the unique kinds of violence they experience behind bars, incarceration for female-identifying people can crucially diverge from male-identifying people (Hood 2023; Richie 2012). Other marginalized groups also have unique experiences with carcerality. Latinx people are the fastest growing group represented in prisons, Indigenous people are vastly overrepresented in juvenile incarceration, and other marginalized groups struggle with appropriate representation in the criminal justice literature (Oboler 2008; Joab 2017; Magsaysay 2021). Studying their position in the carceral state—especially in juvenile detention—could illuminate nuanced perspectives on political engagement.

Another important caveat to this study is that perhaps age is less significant than length of stay behind bars. Some scholars suggest that time spent incarcerated impacts life expectancy, and

that those imprisoned for long periods experience a decay in mental health (Patterson 2013). For this study, the median length of detention for those first incarcerated in their youth was 11 months and a range of 11 days to 32 years. The median length for those first incarcerated as adults was 5 months with a range of 4 hours to 4 years. While the median and range are notably different between the two groups, time incarcerated does not seem to leverage interviewees' responses, as those behind bars for a few hours or even multiple years sometimes had the same experiences, versus some of those who were jailed for similar times had different responses. However, my sampling population could not be fully representative of how people generally experience politics based on their length behind bars.

While this research examines and analyzes participants' experiences, there could be a strong tie between how interviewees responded and their identity. Identities like race, gender, location of incarceration, and sometimes occupation were gathered and discussed; however, positionalities like class, sexual orientation, religion, and other factors were largely not mentioned during the interviewing process. For instance, queer and transgender people are disproportionately incarcerated behind bars, and often struggle with discriminatory violence behind and beyond bars (Smith and Stanley 2011). Dealing with incarceration and its implications compounded with a queer or trans identity can complicate how one views criminal justice and political institutions. Similarly, all participants were gathered from Virginia, which happens to be a state particularly punitive with voter disenfranchisement laws. Currently, the state disenfranchises those convicted of a felony, unless the governor restores their voting rights (Schneider 2023). Criminal justice funding has also skyrocketed and laws seeking to reform the criminal justice system have been vetoed by the incumbent governor (VDCJS; Schneider 2024).

Under these conditions, participants may have responded more negatively about the criminal justice system as Virginia's punitiveness is harsher than many other states.

Some participants reported being politically disenfranchised. Throughout the interview, they may have reported restoring their voting rights or not being able to vote due to Virginia's disenfranchisement laws for those previously incarcerated. However, this fact was not gathered from all participants so their political efficacy could have been lessened if their rights were not restored.

Lastly, interviewing's nature requires the researcher to take the interviewee at their word. Some scholars point towards the leading nature of questions and its ability to produce responses that the interviewer already believes or desires as problematic. In other cases, interviews could cause assumptions to be made about a participant's life that may not be true, which could cause discussion to reflect an inaccurate representation of the participant's true experience (Roulston 2010). Arguments like these are important to study as an interviewer and mitigate when interacting with human participants—especially if they are a part of a vulnerable group. My interviewing style aimed to be as nonleading as possible and to allow participants to guide conversation in whatever manner they chose (i.e., asking if they wanted to answer certain questions, allowing space for them to ask questions, requesting feedback to see if my understanding was correct, etc.). Bias may have inevitably fallen through the cracks and influenced parts of my findings. However, this study aims to highlight a marginalized community's voice in a setting where they are often shunned, and I find the potential for academic growth and insight to outweigh this concern.

---

All in all, political participation matters. This study reveals that people can construct political efficacies at a young age, and that the criminal justice system can play a large role in whether someone chooses to engage with the political system. Future studies should examine effective political mobilization efforts for youth and engage them with it. If juvenile justice attempts to reform youth into more active and productive citizens, then it is important that this institution does not aim to demobilize individuals before they can even vote. More endeavors should be centered around restorative practices and healing services for youth—preferably beyond carcerality. These restorative institutions should include practices on useful civic engagement and create spaces for youth to recover from negative interactions with law enforcement or confinement. Without these efforts, a vulnerable segment of our population will continue to be silenced in the political arena which will perpetuate cycles of marginalization within criminal justice.

# APPENDIX A: INTERVIEW QUESTIONS

Participants in this study were interviewed based on having previous contact with incarceration. Some participants reported being incarcerated as juveniles while others were only incarcerated in adulthood. To gauge their interactions with the criminal justice system, politics, government, and other factors, the following questions were generally asked:<sup>5</sup>

- 1. There are many things that we mean when we say "government." What comes to mind when you think about government?
- 2. What role does the government have in your life currently? What role has it had in the past?
- 3. Can you tell me about your first contact with the criminal justice system? Whether that was a police officer, security guard, a lawyer, or someone/something else.
- 4. How many times were you incarcerated?
- 5. If you care to share, what factors led to your incarceration?
- 6. If you care to share, what are some of the most memorable moments you have had with law enforcement?
- 7. What did you learn, if anything, about the government based on your interactions with incarceration/police?
- 8. Do you believe the government is doing the right thing when it comes to criminal justice?
- 9. How engaged are you with politics?
- 10. Do you vote, watch the news, participate in activism (like protests), or do any other form of political participation?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This interview process was semi-structured, so additional questions were asked for specific participants that are not reflected here.

- 11. How much does your history with criminal justice influence your political beliefs/participation? If at all.
- 12. What three political issues are most important to you?
- 13. Do you believe that certain groups in America are more negatively impacted by our government than other groups?
- 14. What should be done to help these people? If you have any ideas.

# APPENDIX B: TABLES

Table 1. Incarcerated as a juvenile.

Name	Race	Gender	Age	Age(s) Incarcerated	Time Incarcerated	Politically engaged?	Criminal justice feeling
Darnell	Black	Male	23	11-12	20 months	No	Positive
Henry	White	Male	34	16	6 months	No	Negative
Jarvis	Black	Male	31	16	2 months	No	Negative
Bill	White	Male	37	17-18	11 days	Yes	Negative
Dean	Black	Male	22	13	10 days	No	Negative
Lee	Black	Male	33	15	8 years	No	Negative
Mani	Black	Male	22	12-13	15 months	No	Negative
Carson	Black	Male	54	15-48	32 years	Yes	Negative

Table 2. Incarcerated as an adult.

Name	Race	Gender	Age	Age(s) Incarcerated	Time Incarcerated	Politically engaged?	Criminal justice feeling
Rhonda	Black	Female	22	19	3 days	No	Neutral
Mason	White	Male	42	24-28	4 years	Yes	Neutral
Anderson	White	Male	45	36-37	6 months	No	Neutral
Keith	White	Male	26	21	4 hours	Yes	Negative
Arthur	Black	Male	36	19-24	4 years	Yes	Positive
Elliot	Black	Male	30	29	3 months	Yes	Negative
Quinton	Black	Male	27	21-25	4 years	No	Negative

## APPENDIX C: RECRUITMENT FLYER

# CALLING PARTICIPANTS

HAVE YOU EVER BEEN
INCARCERATED? CONSIDER
PARTICIPATING IN OUR STUDY:

SCAN



I'M A STUDENT AT WILLIAM AND MARY STUDYING POLITICAL PRACTICE AMONG FORMERLY INCARCERATED PEOPLE, AND I WOULD LOVE TO TALK TO YOU! ALL PARTICIPANTS ARE ANONYMOUS.

QUESTIONS? EMAIL: JTWILKINS@WM.EDU

#### APPENDIX D: CONSENT FORM

Research Participation Informed Consent Form Government Department College of William & Mary

Principal Investigators: Jonathan Wilkins and Mackenzie Israel-Trum	nmel
This is to certify that I,	_, have been given the
following information with respect to my participation in this study:	

- 1. Purpose of the research: The purpose of this research is to determine how people who have been incarcerated in their youth interact with politics in adulthood. Contact with the criminal justice system has several implications for political behavior, and discovering a correlation between juvenile incarceration and political engagement would be useful in understanding political behavior.
- 2. Procedure to be followed: As a participant in this study, I will be asked to complete an interview with a variety of questions. Some questions will ask about past experiences with incarceration, political beliefs and behaviors, and other personal topics. The interview will last no longer than 1 hour.
- 3. Discomfort and risks: Participants may feel discomfort retelling traumatic events that have led to their incarceration. As a participant, I am allowed to not answer or remove answers previously said to questions that make me feel uncomfortable.
- 4. Potential benefits. There are no financial benefits of participating in the study. However, my participation in this research will contribute to the development of our understanding about the nature of the study.
- 5. Statement of confidentiality: My data will be anonymous. My data will not be associated with my name, nor will it be coded so that my responses may be linked to my name in any way.
- 6. Voluntary participation: Participation in this study is voluntary. I am free to withdraw at any time without penalty. I may choose to skip any question or activity.
- 7. Incentive for participation: Participants will be able to contribute to an important field in research that has not been heavily explored yet. Additionally, participants will be able to engage in an activity that may prove cathartic as they express their carceral history in a productive manner.
- 8. I am aware that I must be at least 18 years of age to participate in this project.
- 9. I may obtain a copy of the research results by contacting Jonathan Wilkins at <a href="mailto:jtwilkins@wm.edu">jtwilkins@wm.edu</a>.

- 10. Termination of participation: Participation may be terminated by the experimenter if it is deemed that the participant is unable to perform the tasks presented.
- 11. Questions or concerns regarding participation in this research should be directed to: Dr. Israel-Trummel at mit@wm.edu.
- 12. I am aware that I may report dissatisfactions with any aspect of this study to Dr. Tom Ward, the Chair of the Protection of Human Subjects Committee, by telephone (757-221-2358) or email (jward@wm.edu).

I agree to participate in this study and have read all signature below confirms that my participation in the received a copy of this consent form.	1
Signature	Date

THIS PROJECT WAS APPROVED BY WILLIAM & MARY PROTECTION OF HUMAN SUBJECTS COMMITTEE (Phone 757-221-3966) ON 2023-10-10.

#### SOURCES

Ainsworth, Janet E. *Re-Imagining Childhood and Reconstructing the Legal Order: The Case for Abolishing the Juvenile Court*, 69 N.C. L. REv. 1083, 1096 (1991).

Alexander, Michelle. *The New Jim Crow: Mass Incarceration in the Age of Colorblindness*. New York: New Press, 2010.

Anoll, Allison, Derek Epp, and Mackenzie Israel-Trummel. "Contact and Context: How Municipal Traffic Stops Shape Citizen Character." *The Journal of Politics* 84.4 (2022): 2272–2277.

Anoll, Allison, and Mackenzie Israel-Trummel. "Do Felony Disenfranchisement Laws (De)Mobilize? A Case of Surrogate Participation." *The Journal of Politics* 81.4 (2019): 1523–1527.

Armenta, Amada. *Protect, Serve, and Deport: The Rise of Policing as Immigration Enforcement*. Oakland, California: University of California Press, 2017.

Axinn, William, Greg J. Duncan, and Arland Thorton. "The Effects of Parents Income, Wealth and Attitudes on Children's Completed Schooling and Self-Esteem" in *Consequences of Growing up Poor* by Greg J. Duncan, and Jeanne. Brooks-Gunn. New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1997.

Bailey, Alison. 2007. "Strategic Ignorance." In *Race and Epistemologies of Ignorance*. 77-95. Albany, NY: SUNY Press.

Beck, Paul Allen, and M. Kent Jennings. "Family Traditions, Political Periods, and the Development of Partisan Orientations." *Journal of Politics* 53.3 (1991): 742–763.

Brooks-Gunn, Jeanne, Greg J. Duncan, and Nancy Maritato. "Poor Families, Poor Outcomes: The Well-Being of Children and Youth" in *Consequences of Growing Up Poor* by Greg J. Duncan, and Jeanne. Brooks-Gunn. New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1997.

Bulanda, Jeffrey, and Trisha Byro Johnson. "A Trauma-Informed Model for Empowerment Programs Targeting Vulnerable Youth." *Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal*, 33 (2016): 303–312.

Burch. 2013. Trading Democracy for Justice: Criminal Convictions and the Decline of Neighborhood Political Participation. University of Chicago Press.

Butts, Jeffrey A., and Ojmarrh Mitchell. "Brick by Brick: Dismantling the Border Between Juvenile and Adult Justice." *Criminal Justice* 2 (2000): 167-213.

Cooper, C. W. (2007). "School Choice as 'Motherwork': Valuing African-American Women's Educational Advocacy and Resistance." *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 20 (5), 491–512.

Cornell Law School. "Parens Patriae." *Legal Information Institute*. https://www.law.cornell.edu/wex/parens patriae Accessed 13 Sept 2023.

Devlin, Amie et al. "Who Is Going to Put Their Life on the Line for a Dollar? That's Crazy': Community Perspectives of Financial Compensation in Clinical Research." *Journal of Medical Ethics* 48.4 (2022): 261–265.

Desai, Shiv R. "Hurt People, Hurt People': The Trauma of Juvenile Incarceration." *The Urban Review* 51.4 (2019): 638–658.

Dinas, Elias. "Why Does the Apple Fall Far from the Tree? How Early Political Socialization Prompts Parent-Child Dissimilarity." *British Journal of Political Science* 44.4 (2014): 827–852.

Easton, Susan. *The Politics of the Prison and the Prisoner: Zoon Politikon*. 1 Edition. Boca Raton, FL: Routledge, an imprint of Taylor and Francis, 2018.

Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104 (1982).

Epstein, Rebecca and Blake, Jamilia and González, Thalia. *Girlhood Interrupted: The Erasure of Black Girls' Childhood* (June 27, 2017). Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3000695 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3000695

Fare v. Michael C., 442 U.S. 707 (1979).

Fedders, Barbara. "The Anti-Parent Juvenile Court." *UCLA Law Review* 69, no. 3 (2022): 746–806.

Feld, C. B. (2019). *The Evolution of the Juvenile Court: Race, Politics, and the Criminalizing of Juvenile Justice.* NYU Press.

Gainous J, Martens AM. 2016. "Civic Education: Do Liberals Do It Better?" *J. Political Ideol.* 21(3):261–79

Gerber, Alan S. et al. "Why Don't People Vote in U.S. Primary Elections? Assessing Theoretical Explanations for Reduced Participation." *Electoral Studies* 45 (2017): 119–129.

Gilman, Amanda B., Karl G. Hill, and J. David Hawkins. "When Is a Youth's Debt to Society Paid? Examining the Long-Term Consequences of Juvenile Incarceration for Adult Functioning." *Journal of Developmental and Life-Course Criminology* 1.1 (2015): 33–47.

Goff, Phillip Atiba et al. "The Essence of Innocence: Consequences of Dehumanizing Black Children." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 106.4 (2014): 526–545.

Goldman, Margaret, and Nancy Rodriguez. "The State as the 'Ultimate Parent': The Implications of Family for Racial and Ethnic Disparities in the Juvenile Justice System." *Race and Justice* 12, no. 4 (2022): 714–735.

Hands, Catherine M., and Lea Hubbard. *Including Families and Communities in Urban Education*. Charlotte, N.C: Information Age Pub., 2011.

Harden, Alicia N. Rethinking the Shame: The Intersection of Shaming Punishments and American Juvenile Justice, 16 U.C. DAvisJ. Juv. L. & PoL'Y 93, 102 (2012).

Hill, Shirley A., and Joey Sprague. "Parenting in Black and White Families: The Interaction of Gender with Race and Class." *Gender & Society* 13.4 (1999): 480–502.

Hood, Alexandra N. "Dual Status and Adultification: Black Girls' Lives in Context." *Journal of Family Strengths* 23.1 (2023).

Hyman, Herbert H. *Political Socialization: A Study in the Psychology of Political Behavior.* Glencoe, Free Press, 1959.

In re Gault, 387 U.S. 1, 28 (1967).

Jennings, M. Kent, and Richard G. Niemi. *Generations and Politics: A Panel Study of Young Adults and Their Parents*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1981.

Jennings, M., and Richard Niemi. (1968). "The Transmission of Political Values from Parent to Child." *American Political Science Review*, 62(1), 169-184. doi:10.2307/1953332.

Jennings, M. Kent, Laura Stoker, and Jake Bowers. "Politics across Generations: Family Transmission Reexamined." Journal of Politics 71.3 (2009): 782–799.

Joab, Rebekah. "Incarcerating Native American Youth in Federal Bureau of Prisons Facilities: The Problem with Federal Jurisdiction Over Native Youth Under the Major Crimes Act." *Georgetown Journal of Law & Modern Critical Race Perspectives* 9.2 (2017): 155-172.

Kahne J, Chi B, Middaugh E. 2006. "Building Social Capital for Civic and Political Engagement: The Potential of High-School Civics Courses." *Can. J. Educ.* 29(2):387–409.

King, Devon C. et al. "Childhood Maltreatment and Psychiatric Disorders Among Detained Youths." *Psychiatric Services* 62.12 (2011): 1430–1438.

Klugman, Joshua. "The Advanced Placement Arms Race and the Reproduction of Educational Inequality." *Teachers College Record* (1970) 115.5 (2013): 1–34.

Kupchik, A. (2006). *Judging Juveniles: Prosecuting Adolescents in Adult and Juvenile Courts*. New York: New York University Press.

Laible, Deborah J., Gustavo Carlo, and Marcela Raffaelli. "The Differential Relations of Parent and Peer Attachment to Adolescent Adjustment." *Journal of Youth and Adolescence* 29.1 (2000): 45–59.

Lee, Hedwig, Lauren C. Porter, and Megan Comfort. "Consequences of Family Member Incarceration: Impacts on Civic Participation and Perceptions of the Legitimacy and Fairness of Government." The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 651, no. 1 (2014): 44–73.

Lerman, Amy E., and Vesla M. Weaver. *Arresting Citizenship: The Democratic Consequences of American Crime Control.* Chicago; The University of Chicago Press, 2014.

Mackova, Jaroslava et al. "Crisis in the Family and Positive Youth Development: The Role of Family Functioning." *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 16.10 (2019): 1678-1689.

Magsaysay, Raymond. "Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders and the Prison Industrial Complex." *Michigan Journal of Race & Law* 26.2 (2021): 443-519.

McKeiver v. Pennsylvania, 403 U.S. 528, 545 (1971).

Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460 (2012).

Rector, Milton G., and David Gilman. "How Did We Get Here and Where Are We Going-The Future of the Juvenile Court System." *Criminal Justice Review* (Atlanta, Ga.) 1.1 (1976): 77–90.

Montgomery v. Louisiana, 577 U.S. 190 (2016).

Oskooii, Kassra A.R. "Perceived Discrimination and Political Behavior." *British Journal of Political Science* 50.3 (2020): 867–892.

Owens, Michael Leo, and Hannah L. Walker. "The Civic Voluntarism of 'Custodial Citizens': Involuntary Criminal Justice Contact, Associational Life, and Political Participation." *Perspectives on Politics* 16.4 (2018): 990–1013.

Pantoja, Adrian D., and Gary M. Segura. "Fear and Loathing in California: Contextual Threat and Political Sophistication among Latino Voters." *Political Behavior* 25.3 (2003): 265–286.

Pantoja, Adrian D., Ricardo Ramirez, and Gary M. Segura. "Citizens by Choice, Voters by Necessity: Patterns in Political Mobilization by Naturalized Latinos." *Political Research Quarterly* 54.4 (2001): 729–50.

Patterson, Evelyn J. "The Dose–Response of Time Served in Prison on Mortality: New York State, 1989–2003," *American Journal of Public Health* 103, no. 3 (2013): 523–528.

Pfaff, John F. Locked In: The True Causes of Mass Incarceration -- and How to Achieve Real Reform. New York, NY: Basic Books, 2017.

Porter, Nicole D., and Morgan McLeod. "Expanding the Vote: State Felony Disenfranchisement Reform, 1997-2023." *The Sentencing Project*. 2023. Accessed 29 February 2024. <a href="https://www.sentencingproject.org/reports/expanding-the-vote-state-felony-disenfranchisement-reform-1997-2023/">https://www.sentencingproject.org/reports/expanding-the-vote-state-felony-disenfranchisement-reform-1997-2023/</a>.

Pusztai, Gabriella et al. "Civic Engagement and the Resources of Persistent Students and the Reasons of Dropout in Higher Education." *Hungarian Educational Research Journal* 9.2 (2019): 270–287.

Putnam, Robert D. *Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community*. New York: Simon & Schuster, 2000.

Puzzanchera, Charles, Sarah Hockenberry, and Melissa Sickmund. 2022. *Youth and the Juvenile Justice System: 2022 National Report*. Pittsburgh, PA: National Center for Juvenile Justice.

Redding, R. E., Et Howell, J. C. (2000). Blended Sentencing in American Juvenile Courts. In J. Fagan Et F. E. Zimring (Eds.), *The Changing Borders of Juvenile Justice* (pp. 145-179). Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Richie, E. Beth. *Arrested Justice: Black Women, Violence, and America's Prison Nation*. New York: New York University Press, 2012.

Rios, Victor M. *Punished: Policing the Lives of Black and Latino Boys*. New York, NY: New York University Press, 2011.

Roorda, Debora L. et al. "The Influence of Affective Teacher-Student Relationships on Students' School Engagement and Achievement: A Meta-Analytic Approach." *Review of Educational Research* 81.4 (2011): 493–529.

Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005).

Roulston, Kathryn. "Interview 'problems' as Topics for Analysis." *Applied Linguistics* 32.1 (2011): 77–94.

Schneider, Gregory S. "Youngkin requires people convicted of felonies to apply for voting rights." *The Washington Post.* 22 March 2023. Accessed 8 April 2024. https://www.washingtonpost.com/dc-md-va/2023/03/22/youngkin-virginia-felon-rights-restoration/

Schneider, Gregory S. "Youngkin vetoes Va. criminal justice bills he says 'undermine public safety." *The Washington Post.* 21 March 2024. Accessed 8 April 2024. https://www.washingtonpost.com/dc-md-va/2024/03/21/virginia-youngkin-veto-criminal-justice/.

Scribner, Jay D., and Donald H. Layton. *The Study of Educational Politics: The 1994 Commemorative Yearbook of the Politics of Education Association (1969-1994)*. Washington, D.C: Falmer Press, 1995.

Smith, Nat, and Eric A. Stanley, eds. *Captive Genders: Trans Embodiment and the Prison Industrial Complex*. Second edition. Edinburgh; AK Press, 2015.

Torney-Purta J, Wilkenfeld BS. 2009. "Paths to 21st Century Competencies Through Civic Education Classrooms: An Analysis of Survey Results from Ninth-Graders." *Tech. Assist. Bull., Am. Bar Assoc. Div. Public Educ.*, Chicago, IL

Tyrell, Fanita A., and Tuppett M. Yates. "Emancipated Foster Youth's Experiences and Perceptions of the Transition to Adulthood." *Journal of Youth Studies* 21.8 (2018): 1011–1028.

Urbina, Martin Guevara. 2008. A Comprehensive Study of Female Offenders: Life Before, During, and After Incarceration. Springfield, IL: Charles C. Thomas Publisher.

Verba, Sidney, Kay Schlozman, and Nancy Burns. "Family Ties: Understanding the Intergenerational Transmission of Participation." *In The Social Logic of Politics: Personal Networks as Contexts for Political Behavior.* Edited by Alan S. Zuckerman, 95–114. Philadelphia: Temple University Press, 2005.

Virginia Department of Criminal Justice Services. "Governor Glenn Youngkin Announces More Than \$37.5M in Criminal Justice Grant Funding." *DCJS*. Accessed 8 April 2024. <a href="https://www.dcjs.virginia.gov/news/governor-glenn-youngkin-announces-more-375m-criminal-justice-grant">https://www.dcjs.virginia.gov/news/governor-glenn-youngkin-announces-more-375m-criminal-justice-grant</a>.

Vollet, Justin W, Thomas A Kindermann, and Ellen A Skinner. "In Peer Matters, Teachers Matter: Peer Group Influences on Students' Engagement Depend on Teacher Involvement." *Journal of Educational Psychology* 109.5 (2017): 635–652.

Walker, Hannah L. *Mobilized by Injustice: Criminal Justice Contact, Political Participation, and Race.* New York, NY: Oxford University Press, 2020.

Weaver, Vesla, Gwen Prowse, and Spencer Piston. "Withdrawing and Drawing In: Political Discourse in Policed Communities." *Journal of Race, Ethnicity, and Politics* 5.3 (2020): 604–647.

Weaver, Vesla, and Amy E. Lerman. "Political Consequences of the Carceral State." *The American Political Science Review* 104.4 (2010): 817–833.

Wentzel, Kathryn R. "Social Relationships and Motivation in Middle School: The Role of Parents, Teachers, and Peers." *Journal of Educational Psychology* 90.2 (1998): 202–209.

Wentzel, Kathryn R., Shannon Russell, and Sandra Baker. "Emotional Support and Expectations From Parents, Teachers, and Peers Predict Adolescent Competence at School." *Journal of Educational Psychology* 108.2 (2016): 242–255.

White, Ariel. "Misdemeanor Disenfranchisement? The Demobilizing Effects of Brief Jail Spells on Potential Voters." *The American Political Science Review* 113.2 (2019): 311–324.

Winslade, William J. "The Juvenile Courts: From Idealism to Hypocrisy." *Social Theory and Practice* 3.2 (1974): 181–199.